015

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SNO J. WHITE SILO
JUL 21 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 82,060

TODD DORIAN,

Petitioner,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

AMENDED BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION

BENNETT H. BRUMMER
Public Defender
Eleventh Judicial Circuit
of Florida
1320 N.W. 14th Street
Miami, Florida 33125
(305) 545-1960

BRUCE A. ROSENTHAL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 227218

Counsel for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, TODD DORIAN, was the defendant in the trial court and the Appellee and Cross-Appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal. The Respondent, the State, was the prosecution in the trial court and the Appellant and Cross-Appellee in the District Court of Appeal. The parties will be referred to as they stood before the lower court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The defendant was arrested on murder charges on May 20, 1981, commencing the then-applicable 180-day time for trial under Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.191. State v. Dorian, 16 Fla. L. Weekly D2370 (Fla. 3d DCA Sept. 10, 1991), superseded on rehearing, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D856 (Fla. 3d DCA March 30, 1993) (en banc). The last day for trial under the speedy trial rule would have been November 17, 1981. A little over a week before expiration of the speedy trial period, the State nolle prossed the charges because of inability to locate its witnesses. Id. Six years later, in an unrelated arrest, the defendant confessed to the earlier charges. Id. Three years after that event, i.e., at the end of 1990, the defendant was rearrested on the original 1981 charges. Id. The trial court granted the defendant's motion for speedy trial discharge based on the rule as comprised in 1981. Id.

On the basis of the rule revision creating a window period which first became effective on January 1, 1985, the Third District Court of Appeal in a seven-to-four en banc decision¹ reversed the trial court's order of speedy trial discharge and resurrected the prosecution. 18 Fla. L. Weekly at D856.

In State v. Agee, 588 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (on

¹

A three-judge panel of the lower court initially heard the appeal, and reversed the order of discharge. State v. Dorian, 16 Fla. L. Weekly D2370 (Fla. 3d DCA Sept. 10, 1991). The Appellee filed a motion for rehearing, which the lower court treated as a motion for rehearing en banc, and which led to the superseding en banc decision. State v. Dorian, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D856 (Fla. 3d DCA March 30, 1993) ("On motion for rehearing en banc"). The Appellee's motions for rehearing and for certification of the en banc decision were denied on June 15, 1993.

motion for rehearing), the First District, in a decision issued after the panel decision in this case, had certified conflict with that panel decision. Agee, 588 So. 2d at 604. In its superseding en banc decision, the Third District rejected both the Appellee's reliance on and the reasoning of State v. Agee. 18 Fla. L. Weekly at D857.

The en banc decision became final on June 15, 1993, and on June 30, 1993, notice invoking this Court's discretionary review jurisdiction was filed. On the following day, this Court issued its decision in <u>State v. Agee</u>, Case No. 78,950, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S391 (Fla. July 1, 1993), which expressly disapproved of the Third District's decision in this case and approved the First District's decision in <u>Agee</u>. 18 Fla. L. Weekly at S392.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision below, <u>State v. Dorian</u>, 16 Fla. L. Weekly D2370 (Fla. 3d DCA Sept. 10, 1991), <u>superseded on rehearing</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D856 (Fla. 3d DCA March 30, 1993)(en banc), has been expressly disapproved by this Court in <u>State v. Agee</u>, Case No. 78,950, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S391 (Fla. July 1, 1993). Because the speedy trial period in this case would have run in 1981 but for the state's nolle prosequi eight days before the end of that period, the window period which first became effective January 1, 1985 had no application whatsoever in the case, and the trial court properly granted speedy trial discharge after a 1990 refiling of the same charges. The Third District's opinion should be quashed under authority, inter alia, of <u>State v. Agee</u>, and the cause remanded with directions to reinstate the trial court's order of discharge.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL BELOW, STATE V. DORIAN, 18 FLA. L. WEEKLY D856 (FLA. 3D DCA MARCH 30, 1993) (ON REHEARING EN BANC), HAS ALREADY DISAPPROVED BY THIS COURT IN STATE V. AGEE, 18 FLA. L. WEEKLY S391 (FLA. JULY 1, 1993), AND ACCORDINGLY THIS COURT SHOULD QUASH DECISION BELOW AND REMAND WITH DIRECTIONS TO REINSTATE THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER OF SPEEDY TRIAL DISCHARGE.

In rejecting the defendant's entitlement to discharge in 1991 from reprosecution of the same charges which had been nolle prossed shortly before the end of the speedy trial period in 1981, the majority of the Third District en banc rejected the defendant's argument that the 1985 speedy trial rule amendment creating a window period was not intended to nor could it apply to revivify a speedy trial time lapsed in 1981, and proceeded to apply the window period both to nullify the effect of the 1981 nolle prosse and retrospectively expand the time for trial from 180 days to nearly ten years. The lower court held that "the speedy trial rule accords no substantive rights subject to vesting." 18 Fla. L. Weekly at D857.

In so ruling, the Third District utterly ignored this Court's decision in State ex rel. Gutierrez v. Baker, 276 So. 2d 470, 471 (Fla. 1973), which recognized that "[t]he accused has a vested interest in being brought to trial within the limitations set by Rule 3.191(.)" See also State v. Williams, 287 So. 2d 415, 419 (Fla. 2d DCA 1973) (Under the rule, "a speedy trial is a substantive right to which one shall not lightly be deprived."). This Court's opinion adopting the window-period specified that the amendment "shall govern all proceedings within [its] scope after

12:01 a.m. January 1, 1985." The Florida Bar Re: Amendment to Rules -- Criminal Procedure, 462 So. 2d 386 (Fla. 1984). The instant case was never intended to be within, and could not constitutionally be within, the scope of the window period amendment in the first instance. See also Rule 3.191, 1984 Committee Note ("[The window period] gives the system a chance to remedy a mistake; it does not permit the system to forget about the time constraints.").

Moreover, even assuming that the window period could apply retrospectively to a case where the speedy trial time period ran several years earlier, the application of it to obviate the specific rule-provided effect of a nolle prosse under Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.191(h)(2) (i.e., that a nolle prosse cannot avoid or toll the running of the speedy trial time) has now been unequivocally rejected by this Court.

In State v. Agee, 588 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), the First District held that the speedy time rule could not be unilaterally extended by the State nolle prossing; that the motivation behind a conscious decision to nolle prosse is irrelevant because "[t]he speedy trial rule contains no "good faith" exception; and that "where the requisite speedy trial period has passed and the defendant could have secured a discharge, had a nolle prosequi not been entered, the 15-day recapture period provided by Rule 3.191(i)(3) is inapplicable." Id. at 603-04.

In <u>State v. Agee</u>, Case No. 78,950, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S391 (Fla. July 1, 1993), this Court has now held: "We approve the decision of the [first] district court [in <u>State v. Agee</u>, 588 So.

2d 600] below, disapprove <u>Dorian</u>, and recede from <u>Zabrani v. Cowart</u>, 506 So. 2d 1035 (Fla. 1987) and <u>Bloom v. McKnight</u>, 502 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 1987), to the extent they suggest the fifteen-day window of recapture applies in such cases." <u>Id</u>. at S392. As further stated, "we hold that when the State enters a nol pros, the speedy trial period continues to run and the State may not refile charges based on the same conduct after the period has expired." <u>Id</u>. <u>Agee</u> controls and requires reversal.

²

Discharge would be required under the dissent to this Court's State v. Agee decision as well. In Agee, which was a post-window period commenced prosecution, the State filed a nolle prosse thirty-three days before expiration of the speedy trial period. State v. Agee, 18 Fla. L. Weekly at S391. In the instant case, the nolle prosse was filed only eight days before the running of the speedy trial rule in 1981. See the dissenting opinion of Justice Overton, 18 Fla. L. Weekly at S392, reasoning that filing of a nolle prosse should establish a presumption of intent to avoid the effect of the speedy trial rule, which presumption can be rebutted only if the defendant is unable to show actual prejudice "and is tried within the time remaining between the filing of the nol pros and the last day of the speedy trial time period." (emphasis supplied). Here eight days impermissibly became nearly ten years.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and authorities cited, inasmuch as the defendant has remained in custody for an extended period of time based on a re-arrest and prosecution in egregious violation of his speedy trial rights, this Court should summarily quash the decision below, approve the dissent below, and remand with instructions to reinstate the trial court's order of discharge and immediately release the Petitioner.