IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 82,060

TODD DORIAN,

Petitioner,

SID J. WHIT AUG 2 WPREME COURT By_ Chief Deputy Clerk

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

KATHERINE FERNANDEZ RUNDLE State Attorney Eleventh Judicial Circuit Miami, Florida

LISA BERLOW-LEHNER Assistant State Attorney Florida Bar # 382191 E.R. Graham Building 1350 N.W. 12 Avenue Miami, Florida 33136-2111 (305) 547-0666

JURISDICTION AND BRIEFS ON THE

MERITS.

PAGE

TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASES

PAGE

Passim

State v. Agee, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S391 (Fla. July 1, 1993)

State v. Dorian, 16 Fla. L. Weekly D2370 (Fla. 3d DCA September 10, 1991) vacated superseded on rehearing, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D856 (Fla. 3d DCA March 30, 1993)

<u>Passim</u>

INTRODUCTION

This case involves the applicability of section (o) of the Speedy Trial Rule, concerning the use of a nol pros, to a case that was nol prossed in 1981, before the effective date of the "window period" rule.

The Respondent, the State of Florida, prosecuted this case in the trial court and was the Appellant and Cross-Appellee in the Third District Court of Appeal, after the trial court discharged the Petitioner for a violation of the speedy trial rule. The Petitioner, Todd Dorian, was the defendant and Appellee/Cross-Appellant before the Third District. The parties shall be referred to as they appeared below, the State and the defendant.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts the statement as presented in the defendant's brief with the following additional sentence. The trial judge found that the State's dismissal of the charges in 1981 and the 1990 refile were not done in bad faith. <u>State v.</u> <u>Dorian</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D856, 857 (Fla. 3rd DCA March 30, 1993).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The en banc decision of the Third District Court of appeal in State v. Dorian¹ is in conflict with this Court's opinion in State v. Agee² and therefore this Court should accept jurisdiction. However, an exception to this Court's rule, as announced in Agee, should be carved out for cases, like that at bar, in which the State entered a nol pros prior to the 1985 amendment to the speedy trial rule that instituted the "window period." In those few cases, capital or life felonies in which there is no statute of limitations, the rule of law announced in Agee should not apply because the nol pros was presumptively entered in good faith, since it occurred prior to 1985 and thus the nol pros was used by the State to terminate the prosecution with no intent of ever refiling the case. For these reasons, the Court should accept briefs on the merits that address why Dorian should not have come within the ambit of the Agee opinion.

¹ 18 Fla. L. Weekly D856 (Fla. 3d DCA March 30, 1993).
² 18 Fla. L. Weekly S391 (Fla. July 1, 1993).

(3)

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN STATE V. DORIAN, 18 FLA. L. WEEKLY D856 (FLA. 3D DCA MARCH 30, 1993), IS IN CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S OPINION IN STATE V. AGEE, 18 FLA. L. WEEKLY S391 (FLA. JULY 1, 1993), AND THUS, COURT THIS SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION AND BRIEFS ON THE MERITS.

The State agrees that a conflict exists between the en banc opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal in State v. Dorian, 16 Fla. L. Weekly D2370 (Fla. 3d DCA September 10, 1991), vacated superseded on rehearing, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D856 (Fla. 3d DCA March 30, 1993), and this Court's opinion in State v. Agee, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S391 (Fla. July 1, 1993). However, contrary to the relief sought by the defendant in his jurisdictional brief to this Court, the State requests that this Court accept jurisdiction and briefs on the merits, rather than summarily quashing the opinion of the Third District in Dorian. The State takes this position because it firmly believes that despite the rationale of the Agee decision, this Court's disapproval of Dorian was not warranted. In Agee, the State nol prossed its charges in 1988, three years after the amendment to the speedy trial rule that instituted the fifteen-day "window period." However, the reach of this Court's Agee opinion is far broader and effects cases in which the nol pros was entered

(4)

³ The subsection that provides the remedy of discharge, the socalled "window period" was formerly denoted with the letter (i), and is currently lettered (p).

prior to January 1, 1985. For the reasons advanced <u>infra</u>, the State submits that this distinction is critical and the opinion of the Court in <u>Agee</u>, insofar as it is applied to pre-1985 cases and does not recognize this distinction, reaches too far.

In Agee, this Court expressed the concern that "[t]o allow the State to unilaterally toll the running of the speedy trial period by entering a nol pros would eviscerate the rule...." 18 Fla. L. Weekly S391-392. The Court's opinion then raised the spectre of a prosecutor with a weak case entering a nol pros, continuing to develop his or her case, and then later refiling charges months or years later, "thus effectively denying an accused the right to a speedy trial while the State strengthens its case." Id. The Court's concern, as expressed in its opinion, and hence the rationale for the Court's opinion, do not apply to cases that were nol prossed prior to January 1, 1985, the effective date of the "window period" rule. For this reason, the Court's disapproval of the Third District en banc decision in State v. Dorian, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D856 (Fla. 3d DCA March 30, 1993), is unwarranted.

In <u>Dorian</u>, as in all such cases in which the nol pros was entered prior to the advent of the "window period," there was never any intent or even any hope of later refiling charges. There is no question as to the motives of a prosecutor who entered a nol pros prior to January 1, 1985. There can be no dispute that when a prosecutor, such as the one in <u>Dorian</u>, nol prossed the charges, he or she did so to end the prosecution,

(5)

not to toll the time period while the case developed and possibly strengthened. Because when charges were dismissed prior to 1985, by entry of a nol pros, there was no vehicle to ever refile after 180 days had elapsed. The State cannot lay claim to such prescience that when it nol prossed the instant case in 1981, they knew that the rule would change in 1985, thereby allowing them an additional fifteen days if they ever refiled charges.⁴ It is clear therefore, that the fear that a prosecutor will utilize the nol pros to manipulate the speedy trial period and thereby deny a defendant his remedy under the rule is unsubstantiated in cases such as <u>Dorian</u>, in which the State nol prossed prior to January 1, 1985. In fact, the trial court in <u>Dorian</u> specifically found that the State's actions in this regard were not in bad faith. <u>Dorian</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly at D857.

Since a nol pros entered prior to January 1, 1985 must be seen presumptively as done in good faith, the constraints of Section (o) of the speedy trial rule do not apply.

⁴ In <u>Dorian</u>, the State ultimately refiled charges in 1990, after the defendant, in the belief that he could not be prosecuted, boasted to the police about the murder he committed. 18 Fla. L. Weekly D857 (Fla. 3d DCA March 30, 1993). Thus, in <u>Dorian</u>, the State would have had to be doubly clairvoyant when it nol prossed in 1980: 1) to predict the rule change in 1985, and 2) to predict that Dorian would someday confess and supply the necessary additional information needed to bring charges for the murder.

Section (o)⁵ addresses only the use of a nol pros by the State to deliberately avoid the intent and effect of the rule. The clear import and thrust of this section is to prohibit the State from nol prossing charges when the intent of the prosecutor is to circumvent the speedy trial rule. When the prosecutor has no such intent, as is ultimately exemplified in the situation of a pre-1985 nol pros, Section (o) does not apply. Where, as in the case at bar, the nol pros was entered, not to circumvent the rule or deny the defendant any remedy thereunder, but rather to end the case and permanently remove the threat of prosecution, Section (o) was never intended to apply. Since the strictures of (o) do not apply to a pre-1985 nol pros, and since the concerns of this Court as expressed in its opinion concerning potential abuse of a nol pros are not implicated in pre-1985 cases, disapproval of the Dorian decision is neither mandated by the speedy trial rule nor justified.

⁵ This section is currently lettered (o); however, at the time of the nol pros and at the time of the motion for discharge, it was denoted with the letter (h)(2). The text of the rule has remained unchanged and reads:

Nolle Prosequi: Effect. The intent and effect of this rule shall not be avoided by the state by entering a nolle prosequi to a crime charged and by prosecuting a new crime grounded on the same conduct or criminal episode or otherwise prosecuting new and by different charges based on the same conduct or criminal episode whether or not the pending charge is suspended, continued, or is the subject of entry of a nolle prosequi.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing reasons and citations of authority, the State respectfully requests that this Court accept jurisdiction and request briefs on the merits from the parties.